IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

09/30/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0169

No. DA 23-0169

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KAYLEA LYNN MULLENDORE,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, the Honorable Colette Davies, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
CAROLYN GIBADLO
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
cgibadlo@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Spencer Budde died from blunt force trauma caused by Joyce Duncan crashing into the back of Kaylea Mullendore's car and projecting it down a steep hill into another car. There was insufficient evidence to show Kaylea's decision to buckle Spencer in the backseat with a standard seatbelt was the "cause in fact" of Spencer's death.
- II. Alternatively, defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to irrelevant, prejudicial evidence and failing to offer instructions defining the causal relationship between Kaylea's conduct and Spencer's death.
- III. The district court erred when it allowed unqualified and undisclosed expert testimony about a complex traffic collision from two law enforcement officers.
- IV. The parties agreed that a single sentence regarding the limitation on Kaylea's parenting rights would be read as an instruction to the jury. The district court warned the State not to otherwise mention the subject because of its prejudicial impact. The State twice exceeded the stipulation and court's order *in limine*. Did the district court err when it denied Kaylea's motion for a mistrial?
- V. Did the district court err in ordering Kaylea to pay restitution for lost wages?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ten months after a multiple vehicle wreck caused by another driver, the State charged Kaylea Mullendore with seven offenses related to the death of her young son, paralyzation of her daughter, and injuries to her niece: count I, vehicular homicide while under the

influence; count II, negligent vehicular assault; counts III–VI, criminal endangerment; count VII, driving while suspended. (Doc. 5.) Months later, the State filed an Amended information alleging count I, vehicular homicide while under the influence or, in the alternative, count II, negligent homicide; count III, negligent vehicular assault, or, in the alternative, count IV, criminal endangerment; counts V—VIII, criminal endangerment; count IX, driving while suspended. (Doc. 86.)

After a six-day jury trial and nearly eight hours of deliberations, the jury acquitted Kaylea on count I, vehicular homicide while under the influence, but convicted her of count II, negligent homicide. It acquitted her of count III, negligent vehicular assault, but convicted her of count IV, criminal endangerment. The jury did not reach verdicts in counts V–VIII. The jury convicted Kaylea of count IX, driving while suspended. (Doc. 155.)

For the negligent homicide conviction, Kaylea was sentenced to twenty years with five suspended. For the criminal endangerment conviction, she was sentenced to ten years, all suspended and running concurrently. She was also ordered to pay \$13,282.48 in restitution, including \$9,458.19 in lost wages. (Doc. 186; Sent. Tr. at 142.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Three car wrecks occurred in quick succession.

Kaylea met with Brandi Castro and Nicole Butler at Brandi's house to catch up while the children played. For two hours, the women chatted as their children played in the yard. (Tr. at 1166.) Around five o'clock, Nicole and Kaylea decided to take the children swimming. (Id.) Kaylea's five-year-old son, Spencer, and her six-year-old niece, Teegan, wanted to ride with Nicole but Kaylea said no because Nicole's car did not have enough seatbelts. (Tr. at 1167.) Instead, Teegan sat in Kaylea's front seat, Spencer sat in the backseat behind Kaylea, and Kaylea's daughter, Amyah, sat behind Teegan on the passenger side. Teegan was in a booster seat. (Tr. at 389–391.) Amyah and Spencer both wore seatbelts in the backseat, but when Amyah placed the shoulder strap under her arm and behind her back, her brother copied. (Def.'s Exhibit E.)

As Kaylea drove southbound on 32nd Street West in Billings,
Montana, she saw a group of teens who were involved in a car accident
with a Roto-Rooter van. The van driver and the teens were waiting for
help. Kaylea slowed her car and asked the teens if they were okay. (St.'s

Exhibit 19a, at 3.)

Joyce Duncan rammed her Chevy Uplander van into the back of Kaylea's Acura sedan without braking. Duncan was traveling 31 miles per hour and was distracted by the other accident on the road. (Tr. at 796, 1248, & 1272.) Duncan's Uplander weighed over a thousand pounds more than Kaylea's Acura. (Tr. at 1277.) When the cars collided, Duncan's airbag exploded, and her spare tire spun off the rear of her vehicle. (Tr. at 791, 802, 947.) Kaylea's car shot forward, like a billiard ball that had just been hit by the cue ball. (Tr. at 1008.)

Duncan slammed into Kaylea's car 247 feet before the crest of a steep hill known as "tummy tickle" hill. (Tr. at 1296.) The violent collision shot Kaylea's car forward over a small bridge before ultimately colliding 515 feet later with a large Yukon SUV. (Tr. at 1302.) Kaylea's car hit the side and went under the hood of the Yukon. (Tr. at 1261–62.) Kaylea, Amyah, Teegan, and Spencer were all transported to the hospital. Kaylea had a head injury and a broken collarbone. (Tr. at 616.) Amyah sustained permanent injuries and is paralyzed as a result. (Tr. at 711.) Spencer was killed in the accident. (Tr. at 182.)

2. Kaylea Mullendore's blood was drawn twice, once for medical purposes only and once for legal purposes.

As Kaylea was being treated in the ambulance, an unidentified EMT placed two large ports in her arm to administer treatment. (Tr. at 571.) At the hospital, Kaylea was treated by a medical team including Jennifer Perich, a registered nurse. (Tr. at 559.) The hospital records indicated Perich took a urine sample from Kaylea, but the same records did not indicate who took a blood sample and Perich did not remember. (Tr. at 565–66.) She assumed that whoever took Kaylea's blood used the ports installed in the field to withdraw the blood because that would be customary for medical draws. (Tr. at 574–75.)

The blood test results generated at the hospital warned, "Results to be used for Medical Treatment Only." (St.'s Exhibit 49a, pg. 1.) The emergency room doctor explained that he did not rely on the results of low-level blood alcohol tests when treating Kaylea or other patients. (Tr. at 625.) The medical results indicated an alcohol level of 61 mg/dl. (St.'s Exhibit 49a, pg. 1.) Kaylea and Nicole explained that they were not drinking in the hours they were together before taking the kids swimming. (Tr. at 1171.) Although officers found beer bottles in the

trunk, the car belonged to Kaylea's sister, Kaylea's brother borrowed the car previously, and he was a drinker. (Tr. at 235.)

Ellen Buer, a registered nurse, drew Kaylea's blood for a legal blood draw. (Tr. at 1180.) Unlike the field port installation, she was required to use a nonalcoholic pad to clean Kaylea's arm and her training "emphasized to always have a new IV or new stick to obtain a legal blood draw." (Tr. at 1194.) The forensic results from the sterile draw showed that Kaylea had no alcohol or drugs in her blood. (St.'s Exhibit 52.)

The administrative director of the hospital's laboratory, explained "we don't have, like, a chain of custody." (Tr. at 652.) The forensic lab tested whole blood. (Tr. at 700.) The hospital's analyzer tested serum or plasma. (Tr. at 638.) Testing serum or plasma produces results ten to twenty percent higher than results from testing whole blood. (Tr. at 700.) The chemistry test used by the hospital's analyzer can also produce positive results from other substances, such as alcohol wipes, when testing for ethyl alcohol. (Tr. at 648.) The analyzer's results are not reviewed for accuracy, they are simply reported. (Tr. at 647.) The forensic results are produced and reviewed by two forensic scientists to

ensure accuracy. (Tr. at 696.) The administrative director could not recall what the standard deviation was for the analyzer but acknowledged that it was significant and may have caused the results to vary by as much as 20 milligrams. (Tr. at 651.)

3. The lead investigator first met Kaylea four months after the accident.

Four months after the accident, Kaylea first met with Hunter Cook, an "officer, basic," who was new to the force, but leading the investigation. (Tr. at 426.). Cook had been an officer for less than three years and only training on the crash investigation team for a few months. (Tr. at 425.) As part of the team, he was trained in photography and using a three-dimensional scanner. (Tr. at 432.)

During their meeting, Cook told Kaylea that on November 23, 2019, her license was suspended. (St.'s Exhibit 19a, pg. 18.) She did not know it had been suspended and it was reinstated two weeks after the accident. (Tr. at 376; St.'s Exhibit 19a, pg. 18.) Despite Kaylea's surprise, Cook accused Kaylea of fleeing the scene to avoid getting in trouble for driving without a license. (St.'s Exhibit 19a, pg. 19.) During trial, the State argued Kaylea driving while her license was suspended was the cause Spencer's death. (Tr. at 1384.)

Cook confessed he was not an expert in accident reconstruction. The prosecutor asked him if he was trained as an expert and he candidly responded, "No, I was not." (Tr. at 360.) He was not familiar with the Accreditation Commission for Traffic Accident Reconstruction ("ACTAR") or the requirements to be ACTAR certified. (Tr. at 426–27.) Despite his lack of qualifications, he attempted to calculate Kaylea's speed and alleged during their initial meeting that she was traveling 72 miles per hour when she hit the Yukon. (St.'s Exhibit 19a, pg. 4, 10.) He claimed to see "hard acceleration" marks that "came from [her] vehicle," and said she must have been driving intentionally based on the trajectory of her vehicle. (Id. pg. 8.) He also believed Spencer and Amyah were not wearing any seatbelts. (Id. pg. 12.) During trial, the State called officer Gabrielle DeNio to corroborate Cook's testimony, but DeNio, like Cook, had not been noticed up as an expert witness and her calculations were never disclosed to the defense. (Tr. at 774.)

4. Cook and DeNio calculated Kaylea's speed, recreated her trajectory, and opined that she intentionally accelerated, despite not being expert accident reconstructionists.

Kaylea repeatedly objected to Cook's testimony as speculative, lacking in foundation, and unqualified. (Tr. at 392, 395, 401, 411, 418,

423, 542, 543.) Cook opined that Kaylea's vehicle traveled over a small bridge, but "then just south of that, there is a drop off into, like, a patch of woods. So, she did not go into the irrigation ditch, and she did not go off the embankment down into the woods." (Tr. at 404.) According to Cook, Kaylea's car only traveled off the curb onto a "grass area." (Tr. at 431.) DeNio testified that the area would have been a "smooth transition" and described it as a "grassy area" "that could be driven on." (Tr. at 752–53.)

Cook also testified that based on his "calculation" Kaylea intentionally accelerated to "a little over 71 miles per hour" when she hit the Yukon. (Tr. at 418.) He relied on the following calculation, which he had never previously attempted:

		19.85927 DATE 12/9/19 PURPOSE Acura Velocity (
	C. JOLUMN	NOTES E= Wfol
	Styckon): 2mple	E(Acuma) = 4475 (0,65) (50.14)
	Wyukor): 720016	E- 145,844,725
	S(Acu-a) = ?	5' \ 70(145,844.725) (acura) 4475
	W(Acuro) = 4475/bs	
		5'= 31.26 mpn
	d: Point of impact	E(Yukog) = 7200 (0.65) (36.97)
	to rest (Y, kon)	E. 173,019.6
8	36.9742	5 = 30(173,019.6) 7200
	Ch = 36.99fg	5' = \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
8	£2 = 50.14ft	TOKO
	Acura Do. 14ft	In Line Momentum
		7200(2.0) + 4475(X:) = 7200(26.84) + 4475(3
	f= 0.65	14400+4475x = 193248 + 139888.5
	(Worn asphalt)	14400 + 4475 X = 333/36.5
		4475x = 318736.5
		4475 4475
		Velocity Acura = 71,22 ruph

(Def.'s Exhibit F.) He used the gross vehicle weights he found on the internet, which is the maximum weight a vehicle can operate with. (Tr. at 471.) He later explained that his calculation would have been more accurate if he had used the curb weight, the weight of the vehicle without passengers or cargo, and added the weight of the passengers. (Tr. at 472.) He also used a co-linear formula, which is for head on

collisions, when "there would be other formulas that would get a more accurate result" since the Yukon turned causing Kaylea to hit it at an angle. (Tr. at 478.)

During the third day of trial, DeNio started to testify that she also tried to calculate Kaylea's speed. (Tr. at 775.) Kaylea objected because it called for expert testimony, any calculations she made were not disclosed to the defense, and the defense was not provided notice that DeNio would testify as an expert. (Tr. at 774–77.) The State admitted that it just decided that day to have DeNio try to calculate Kaylea's speed, it did not disclose the handwritten calculations it had and that it was referring to during DeNio's testimony, and it did not provide notice to the defense, so it was "not going to die on this hill." (Tr. at 777–79.) The district court sustained Kaylea's objection. (Tr. at 778.)

The next day, the State, again, questioned DeNio about Kaylea's speed based on her understanding of Newton's law of physics. (Tr. at 830–31.) Kaylea renewed her objection, but, inconsistent with its prior ruling, the district court overruled the objection. (Tr. at 830–31.) DeNio then proceeded to opine that Kaylea must have intentionally accelerated because she did not believe the force of Duncan's car would

have projected Kaylea's car over "tummy tickle" hill. (Tr. at 831.)

Although Cook claimed he saw tracks from a "hard acceleration" that "came from [Kaylea's] vehicle," he could not identify them in a single picture from the scene or in the three-dimensional scan that covered the entire crash scene. (St.'s Exhibit 18a, at 7:11; Tr. at 438–534.) DeNio "believe[d] that there were maybe some acceleration marks." (Tr. at 737.)

David Rochford, a certified Accident Reconstructionist, testified as an expert for the defense. (Tr. at 1211.) He was a police officer for 30 years and then, for 20 years, pursued a career in accident reconstruction. (Tr. at 1209.) He completed over a thousand hours in accident reconstruction courses and attained his ACTAR certification. (Id.) He explained that accident reconstruction relies on Newton's three laws of motion. (Tr. at 1269.) The second law explains, in part, how an object's rate of acceleration depends on the different weight of the objects applying force. (Tr. at 1269–71.) A lighter object will have a greater acceleration rate when force is applied by a heavier object. (Id.) Duncan's crash data retrieval ("CDR") recorded her speed at 31 miles per hour when she slammed into Kaylea, and she did not brake. (Tr. at

1272–73.) Rochford was able to calculate that Kaylea was traveling 6.61 miles per hour when she was hit. (Tr. at 1280.) Duncan's Uplander weighed 4,948 pounds whereas the Acura only weighed 3,836 pounds. (Tr. at 1277.) Because of the 1000-pound weight difference, Kaylea's car was immediately shot forward to a post impact speed of 20.35 miles per hour. (Tr. at 1295.) Then, because Kaylea's Acura was on a downward slope, it continued to accelerate to 26.6 miles per hour when it crested "tummy tickle" hill 247 feet after she was hit. (Tr. at 1298.) "Tummy tickle" hill has a steep, eight percent grade, which then accelerated Kaylea's car to 54.4 miles per hour before she crashed into the Yukon. (Tr. at 1299–1300.) The Yukon and Acura collided at a 40-degree angle. (Tr. at 1282.) The co-linear formula that Cook relied upon was for head on collisions at less than a 10-degree angle, which is why, when combined with his use of inaccurate vehicle weights, Cook's speed calculation was so inaccurate. (Tr. at 1282.) Rochford explained that Kaylea's Acura was coasting; while her speed was increasing, she was not causing the acceleration. (Tr. at 1304.) Additionally, there were no "hard acceleration" marks in any of the photos or three-dimensional imaging. (Tr. at 1242.)

5. The State theorized Kaylea caused her children's injuries because she buckled them in adult seatbelts.

The State alleged that Kaylea negligently caused Spencer's and Amyah's injuries because they were not in child car seats and she failed to notice that they removed their shoulder straps or, alternatively, she did not put them in seatbelts at all. (Tr. at 162.) Dr. Lindsey Troy testified that, according to the American Pediatric Association, children under six years old and under sixty pounds should be in a five-point restraint. (Tr. at 184–85.) Then, the State solicited the same information from Dr. Karen Breetz. (Tr. at 714.) Cook believed the children were not wearing any seatbelts, although he never saw the children at the accident, because the seatbelts were not locked into place. (Tr. at 483.) However, he could not explain how pre-tensioners work, the mechanism that causes seatbelts to lock into place. (Tr. at 392–93.) His opinion was inconsistent with Dr. Troy concluding, based on his injuries, that Spencer was wearing a lap belt but not a shoulder strap. (Tr. at 190.) Dr. Breetz also concluded that Amyah was wearing a lap belt but not a shoulder strap based on her injuries. (Tr. at 715.)

The State argued, Kaylea "should not have put Spencer in a car

without a car seat, and the defendant should have made sure his seatbelt was on correctly...but those were her choices. And they were negligent." (Tr. at 1394.) According to the State, "[u]se your rear-view mirror. Take a quick look. Pull over. Double check that the children are...strapped the way they're supposed to be" because "who's that on? That is on the driver. And in this case, that was the mother." (Tr. at 1439.)

During deliberations, the jury asked the district court "What is the Montana seatbelt law for children?" (Tr. at 1449.) The judge refused to instruct the jury about the law on seatbelt usage nor was it instructed according to Mont Code Ann. § 61-13-106, that failure to comply with the seatbelt and car seat laws is not negligence.

6. The State also argued Kaylea was not supposed to be alone with her children, therefore, she caused her children's injuries.

Prior to trial, the State sought to introduce evidence from Kaylea's pending dependency and neglect case. The district court recognized the extremely prejudicial impact of the evidence and ordered the State not to address the issue in any manner. (March 23, 2022, Hrg. at 28; Tr. at 239.) The parties agreed the court would read a jury instruction stating

that, because of a court order, Kaylea was only allowed to have supervised contact with her children. (March 23, 2022, Hrg. at 48.) The State violated the order in *limine* twice. First, it asked Kaylea's sister, Bryn Kojetin, if she was also under the court's order or if she was allowed to have unsupervised visits with the children and, second, it asked Michelle Moore, Kaylea's mother, about her current relationship status with Amyah, inviting Moore to respond that she adopted Amyah. (Tr. at 237–39 & 719.) As a result of the order in *limine* violations, the jury heard that Kaylea, unlike the rest of her family, could not be alone with her children and, ultimately, the district court terminated her parental rights. (Tr. at 239 & 719.) Kaylea moved for a mistrial after the second violation, but the district court denied the motion. (Tr. at 779–80.)

During the deliberations, the jury sent a question asking the court, "[w]hat was the custody agreement at the time of the crash?" (Tr. at 1449.) They were told to refer to the jury instructions and their collective memory. (Tr. at 1450–51.)

7. After nearly eight hours of deliberations, the jury acquitted Kaylea of two counts, convicted her of two counts, and hung on the rest.

The jury deliberated for nearly eight hours. (Tr. at 1449 & 1480.)

Eventually, the district court read the cautionary instruction for potentially hung jurors. The jury acquitted Kaylea of the alcohol related charges but convicted her of negligently causing her son's death and criminally endangering her daughter. (Tr. at 1478–81.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction. *State v. Christensen*, 2020 MT 237, ¶ 11, 401 Mont. 247, 472 P.3d 622. This Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and determines whether a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Christensen*, ¶ 11.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are mixed questions of law and fact this Court reviews de novo. State v. Tucker, 2008 MT 273, \P 13, 345 Mont. 237, 190 P.3d 1080.

This Court reviews a trial court's determination regarding the qualification and competency of an expert witness for an abuse of

discretion. State v. Harris, 2008 MT 213, \P 6, 186 P.3d 1263, 344 Mont. 208.

This Court reviews a trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion for a mistrial for an abuse of discretion. State v. McCarthy, 2004 MT 312, \P 41, 324 Mont. 1, 101 P.3d 288.

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