IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0169

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

KAYLEA LYNN MULLENDORE,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court,  
Yellowstone County, The Honorable Colette Davies, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
CHRISTINE HUTCHISON  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
chutchison@mt.gov

SCOTT D. TWITO  
Yellowstone County Attorney  
VICTORIA CALLENDER  
AMANDA TIERNAN  
Deputy County Attorneys  
P.O. Box 35025  
Billings, MT 59107-5025

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

As previously addressed, Mullendore’s reliance on Mont. Code Ann. §§ 61-13-103 and -106 is misplaced. Failure to comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 61-9-420 is admissible. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-9-422. Because the evidence was admissible, Mullendore’s attorneys were not deficient for failing to object.

**B. Mullendore’s counsel were not deficient for failing to request an intervening superseding cause instruction.**

Mullendore’s counsel were not constitutionally ineffective for failing to request an intervening superseding cause instruction because it would not have been applicable.

“An intervening cause is one in which the facts indicate that a force came into motion after the time of the defendant’s negligent act and combined with the negligent act to cause the injury to the [victim].” *S.W. v. State*, 2024 MT 55, ¶ 39,

415 Mont. 437, \_\_\_ P.3 \_\_\_\_\_. If an intervening cause is reasonably foreseeable, it does not break the chain of causation or relieve the defendant of liability. *Id.* “In other words, if one of the reasons that makes a defendant’s act negligent is a greater risk of a particular harmful result occurring, and that harmful result does occur, the defendant is generally liable.” *Cusenbary*, ¶ 25. A defendant need not foresee the specific injury in order for a third-party act to be foreseeable. *S.W.*, ¶ 39. While foreseeability is often a question of fact properly reserved for the jury, this Court has determined foreseeability as a matter of law on several occasions. *Id.* ¶¶ 41-42 (collecting cases).

This Court has found that a patron’s driving through a bar’s wall was not an intervening superseding cause because the driver’s actions of driving while intoxicated after being over-served in the bar were foreseeable as a matter of law. *Cusenbary*, ¶ 29. The consequences of serving alcohol to a person who is already visibly intoxicated are reasonably foreseeable precisely because of the causal relationship between serving alcohol and drunken conduct. *Id.* ¶ 30.

Similarly, a victim’s suicide attempt was foreseeable when the defendant gave his wife a loaded gun when she was heavily intoxicated and encouraged her to use the gun to stop him from leaving. *State v. Bier*, 181 Mont. 27, 29-30, 32-33, 591 P.2d 1115, 1116-18 (1979).

This Court held that a driver accidentally driving the wrong way on an exit ramp past a single set of “Wrong Way” signs was not an intervening or superseding cause of the State’s negligence in failing to post several warning signs at the end of the exit ramp. *Whiting v. State*, 248 Mont. 207, 217-18, 810 P.2d 1177, 1183-84 (1991). “The assumption that a motorist may become distracted long enough to miss a single set of warning signs, is reasonable.” *Id.* The very purpose of the redundant signage that the State’s specifications called for was to prevent someone from driving the wrong way onto an exit ramp. *Id.*

Mullendore’s IAC claim regarding the absence of an intervening superseding cause instruction requires an assumption that Mullendore’s only negligent conduct occurred prior to being rearended. Undisputed evidence at trial established that Mullendore engaged in additional negligent conduct after being rearended. Mullendore focuses on Rochford’s testimony that she could have coasted from the collision with the minivan to the collision with the Yukon. However, even assuming the jury concluded this was true, there was no dispute that Mullendore and the minivan were directly in line with each other when the minivan hit the Acura, yet Mullendore left the roadway at an angle. It was undisputed that she continued along in the shoulder and reentered the roadway at a high rate of speed significantly over the speed limit and there was no evidence that she engaged her brakes. In fact, the only way Mullendore could have reached the

speed her expert calculated without using the gas pedal is if she did not engage her brakes. Joyce could not be an intervening superseding cause of these negligent acts that occurred after Mullendore was rearended.

Moreover, Joyce rearending Mullendore did not break the causal connection between the isolated negligent conduct of failing to properly secure the children and Spencer's death. Child safety restraint systems are designed to properly secure children and prevent the risk of serious bodily injury or death in the event of an accident.

The reason Mullendore's failure to secure Spencer in any child safety restraint system constituted negligence is because it put Spencer at greater risk of serious bodily injury or death in the event of an accident. Spencer being injured in an automotive crash was a foreseeable consequence of Mullendore's negligence. Being rearended did not break the causal connection between Mullendore's negligence and Spencer's death. Mullendore's attorneys were not deficient in failing to request an intervening superseding cause instruction because it was not appropriate under the facts of this case.

**C. Mullendore's counsel were not ineffective for failing to request a specific instruction on the foreseeability of Spencer's death.**

Mullendore asserts the jury should have been instructed that the State needed to prove that Spencer "was foreseeably endangered in a manner and to a degree of

harm consistent with the actual or probable result.” (Appellant’s Br. at 37 (internal quotation marks omitted).)

The jury was instructed that a person commits the offense of negligent homicide if the person negligently causes the death of a human being. The jury was also instructed that “[a] person acts negligently when an act is done with a conscious disregard of the risk or when the person should be aware of the risk . . . .” Read together, these properly instructed the jury that to convict Mullendore, the State needed to prove that Mullendore either consciously disregarded the risk that she would cause Spencer’s death with her actions or that she should have been aware of the risk that her actions would cause Spencer’s death. The instructions were sufficient to fully and fairly instruct the jury on the relevant law. Notably, the pattern criminal jury instruction addressing negligently also does not include the words, “that the result will occur.” Although the pattern jury instruction, MCJI 2-105, instructs that the conduct at issue should be added to the instruction, Mullendore has not established any prejudice.

Child safety restraint systems are designed to prevent serious bodily injury or death in the event of an accident. As medical providers testified, child safety restraint systems prevent a child’s shoulders from slipping through in an accident. Spencer’s blunt force trauma to the head was a foreseeable risk of Mullendore’s failure to properly restrain him and the degree of risk was compounded by her

leaving the roadway after being rearended, proceeding through the shoulder area off the roadway at a high rate of speed, reentering the roadway at a high rate of speed, and colliding with oncoming traffic without any indication that she ever engaged her brakes.

Mullendore's counsel were not ineffective for failing to request an instruction that specifically stated that a person acts negligently when an act is done with a conscious disregard of the risk that the result will occur or when the person should be aware of the risk that the result will occur because the instructions as a whole sufficiently instructed the jury and Mullendore has not established any prejudice.

**IV. Officer Cook had the necessary training and experience to testify as an expert, Officer DeNio's calculations were never admitted into evidence, and the defense opened the door to Officer DeNio's expert testimony on redirect.**

Mullendore mischaracterizes Officer Cook's training and experience by omitting the education, training, or experience he received after November 23, 2019, she implies the State admitted calculations conducted by Officer DeNio into evidence when it never did, and she omits the defense's solicitation of expert testimony from Officer DeNio on cross-examination. (Appellant's Br. at 41-47.) The district court properly allowed Officer Cook to testify as an expert witness and the defense opened the door to Officer DeNio's testimony on rebuttal.

**A. The district court properly overruled Mullendore’s objection to Officer Cook testifying to the result of his calculations because he had the necessary knowledge, skill, experience, and training.**

At trial, Mullendore only objected on Mont. R. Evid. 702 grounds to Officer Cook stating the result of his speed calculation, not to any of his proceeding testimony regarding how calculations are done or other aspects of his crash investigation. The court properly overruled the objection because Officer Cook had the necessary training, experience, skill, and knowledge.

“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Mont. R. Evid. 702. “The determination of the qualification and competency of an expert witness rests within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion.” *State v. Clausell*, 2001 MT 62, ¶ 21, 305 Mont. 1, 22 P.3d 1111 (citation omitted). “Moreover, ‘the degree of a witness’ qualifications affects the weight of the expert’s testimony, not its admissibility.’” *Id.* (citation omitted).

In *Goodnough v. State*, 199 Mont. 9, 13-14, 647 P.2d 364, 369 (1982), this Court held that the district court properly permitted a highway patrolman to testify as to the speed of a vehicle. Goodnough claimed that “estimating speed in a complicated collision requires training in physics and mechanics” and that the

highway patrolman lacked the expertise to testify as to his calculations of vehicle speed based off skid marks. *Id.* This Court rejected the claim, noting prior precedent permitting a highway patrolman to testify as an expert as to the cause of an accident and vehicular speed. *Id.* The patrolman's experience investigating accidents and his training, including in how to estimate speed based on skid mark length and damage, met the requirements to testify as an expert witness. *Id.* This Court stated that "as long as the cross-examiner is given adequate opportunity to elicit any assumptions or facts underlying an expert's opinion, the weight to be given the expert's testimony is for the jury to determine." *Id.*

The district court did not err in overruling Mullendore's Mont. R. Evid. 702 objection. At the time he testified, Officer Cook had worked at the Billings Police Department for five and a half years, worked on the crash investigation team for several years, had completed the law enforcement academy training, had additional training in technical crash investigation, and had formal training and experience conducting calculations to determine the speed of vehicles.

Officer Cook was transparent about the difference between his knowledge, training, and experience at the time of the investigation versus at the time of trial. He also told the jury that his calculation of the Acura's speed had been his first time doing the calculation in a real-world case. Mullendore only acknowledges Officer Cook's training and experience at the time of the incident and offers no

authority that would support basing a witness's qualifications on a point in time other than at the time of trial.

To the extent Mullendore challenges Officer Cook's unobjected-to testimony, she waived her claims by failing to object in the district court. Officer Cook met the requirements to testify as to the result of his speed calculation and the court properly overruled Mullendore's objection.

**B. The defense opened the door to Officer DeNio's testimony regarding the science of speed calculations.**

"When one party opens the door, or broaches a certain topic that would otherwise be off limits, 'the opposing party has the right to offer evidence in rebuttal . . . .'" *State v. Guill*, 2010 MT 69, ¶ 39, 355 Mont. 490, 228 P.3d 1152 (quoting *State v. Veis*, 1998 MT 162, ¶ 18, 289 Mont. 450, 962 P.2d 1153).

"A district court has wide discretion in determining the scope and extent of reexamination regarding matters brought out on cross-examination." *Veis*, ¶ 19 (citations omitted).

Mullendore's objection to Officer DeNio's testimony based on improper notice came at the end of the day on April 27 and was specific as to any speed calculations she may have conducted. (Tr. at 774-77.) The court sustained the objection "as to the calculations," and the following day the State only questioned Officer DeNio on evidence gathering procedures and indicators of impairment before concluding direct examination. (*Id.* at 777-78, 809-11.)

On redirect, when Officer DeNio began testifying about Newton's laws and the angle the Acura left the roadway to explain why she did not believe the Acura rolled down the hill, Mullendore objected, asserting it called for expert testimony. Mullendore omits that it was the defense that asked Officer DeNio about ACTAR certifications, asked whether Officer Cook received ACTAR certification before the 2019 investigation, proposed hypotheticals about ten-pound bowling balls, asked how various things would affect a bowling ball's speed, asked whether the Yukon would go to the right if it was a less than ten degree angle of impact, asked whether a vehicle going down the hill would gain momentum without acceleration, and asked whether someone who had been rearended would have control of their vehicle. (*Id.* at 811-21.)

The district court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Officer DeNio to testify on redirect as to the science underlying her cross-examination testimony because the defense opened the door. While the district court did not state why it overruled Mullendore's objection during redirect, this Court will not reverse if a court reaches the right result, even if for the wrong reason. *Veis*, ¶ 16. To the extent Mullendore challenges other unobjected-to testimony from Officer DeNio, she has waived the challenge by failing to object in the district court.

**V. The district court properly denied Mullendore’s motion for a mistrial because no one told the jury Mullendore’s parental rights were terminated and she declined a curative instruction.**

Mullendore asserts the district court abused its discretion in denying her motion for a mistrial that she requested after the State “told the jury her right to parent A[.R.] was terminated.” (Appellant’s Br. at 48.) No one told the jury Mullendore’s parental rights were terminated.

When determining whether to grant or deny a mistrial, a district court must consider whether the defendant has been denied a fair and impartial trial. *State v. Flores*, 1998 MT 328, ¶ 11, 292 Mont. 255, 974 P.2d 124 (citation omitted).

“Generally, a mistrial is appropriate when there is a reasonable possibility that inadmissible evidence contributed to the conviction.” *State v. Ankeny*, 2018 MT 91, ¶ 36, 391 Mont. 176, 417 P.3d 275. To determine whether a prohibited statement contributed to a conviction, this Court considers the strength of the evidence against the defendant, the prejudicial effect of the testimony, and whether a cautionary instruction could cure any prejudice. *Ankeny*, ¶ 36. A mistrial is “an extreme remedy, only to be granted for manifest necessity as required by the ends of justice.” *Flores*, ¶ 11.

In *State v. Bollman*, 2012 MT 49, ¶¶ 31-37, 364 Mont. 265, 272 P.3d 650, this Court held that an officer’s isolated statement about felony DUIs did not warrant a mistrial. This Court noted the statement appeared to be an inadvertent

remark unsolicited by the State. *Id.* ¶ 34. The statement was not the only link between the defendant and the offense and there was ample evidence against Bollman. *Id.* Contrary to Bollman’s assertions, this Court found that the “statement could not reasonably be seen as evidence of Bollman’s criminal history or prior bad acts.” *Id.* ¶ 35. The statement was not drawn out by the prosecution, nor was the information graphic or detailed. *Id.* Further, Bollman did not seek a curative instruction. *Id.* ¶ 36.

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